
LICENSING BOARD 
 
Venue: Town Hall, Moorgate 

Street, Rotherham S60  
2TH 

Date: Tuesday 7 November 2023 

  Time: 2.00 p.m. 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
1. To determine if the following matters are to be considered under the categories 

suggested in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972  
  

 
2. To determine any item(s) which the Chair is of the opinion should be 

considered later in the agenda as a matter of urgency  
  

 
3. Apologies for absence  
  

 
4. Declarations of Interest  
  

 
5. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8th December, 2022 (Pages 3 - 6) 
  

 
6. Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (Pages 7 - 21) 
   

 
Chief Executive 
   

Membership 2023/24 
Chair:-  Councillor Ellis 
Vice-Chair:-  Councillor Hughes 
Councillors Aveyard, Barker, Bennett-Sylvester, Brown, Castledine-Dack, Clark, T. 
Collingham, Haleem, Hoddinott, Jones, McNeely, Mills, Monk, Pitchley, Reynolds and 
Wyatt. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING BOARD - 08/12/22 

LICENSING BOARD 
8th December, 2022 

 
 
Present:- Councillor Ellis (in the Chair); Councillors Bennett-Sylvester, Castledine-
Dack, Cooksey, Haleem, Hoddinott, Hughes, Jones, McNeely, Mills, Monk, Pitchley, 
Reynolds and Wyatt. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Browne, Clark, T. Collingham, 
Sansome and Councillor Lelliott (Cabinet Member).  
  
3.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 There were no Declarations of Interest made at the meeting. 

  
4.    MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 25TH FEBRUARY, 

2022  
 

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the previous meeting held on 
25th February, 2022. 
 
Resolved:-  That the minutes be received and the contents noted. 
  

5.    LICENSING SERVICE UPDATE  
 

 Consideration was given to the report, presented by the Licensing 
Manager, which provided detailed performance in relation to the Licensing 
Team’s performance against the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
Performance Framework for April-November, 2022, as well as an 
overview of the general performance of the Service.  
 
The report also sought the views of the Board on the House to House 
Collection Policy and Sex Establishment Policy both of which were due for 
formal review in 2023. 
 
The Licensing Manager guided the Licensing Board through the detail in 
the report and provided further information on the areas of:- 
 
  The number of unannounced inspections of vehicles and drivers and 

the percentage of taxis found to be compliant with the licensing 
regime during on the spot inspections 

  Performance against the Licensing Service Performance 
Management Framework 

  The performance of the Council’s Licensing Team in relation to 
quality assurance and administrative aspects of the Service 

 
The submitted report provided details in the appendices of the 
performance against the Licensing Performance Management Framework 
for and Enforcement Data for 1st April-31st November, 2022, which was 
implemented to address the concerns raised in Louise Casey’s report. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 5



 LICENSING BOARD- 08/12/22
 

 
The report provided a summary of enforcement action that had taken 
place between April and November, 2022 including details of actions 
taken by Enforcement Officers along with enforcement actions taken by 
other officers within the Licensing Service and the outcomes of Licensing 
Board Sub-Committee hearings.  It highlighted:- 
 
  68 vehicles and drivers had been inspected since 1st April, 2022, of 

which 96% of vehicles (65) and 100% of drivers were found to be 
compliant with licensing requirements.   
 

  The vehicle non-compliance related to a missing licence plate, an 
absence of a first aid kit and malfunctioning taxi camera system.  The 
licence plate and first aid kit were rectified within 48 hours and the 
camera issue resolved within 2 working days  

 
  Targets had been set against 16 performance measures of which 2 

were off target 
 
  There were an additional 4 measures that were being monitored but 

no target set 
 
  Between April and November, 2022, 5 appeals had been listed for 

consideration by the Magistrates Court in relation to decisions made 
by Licensing Officers and/or the Licensing Board Sub-Committee.  
One of the appeals had been withdrawn by the appellant prior to the 
hearing, one appeal was discharged by way of a Consent Order, 2 
appeals were successfully defended by the Council and the remaining 
appeal was not successfully defended by the Council 

 
  Recruitment was a continuing issue with a vacancies for a Senior 

Licensing Enforcement Officer and Licensing Enforcement Officer (2 
posts).  Interviews were to take place shortly for a licensing Support 
Officer 

 
  Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy was due for renewal in 2023 

 
During discussion on the report and supporting appendices the following 
issues were clarified:- 
 
  Due to the ageing taxi camera systems more frequent problems may 

arise 
 

  Information sharing with partners, in particular South Yorkshire Police, 
did take place despite low attendance at the weekly Child Exploitation 
Task Group.  Should any issues involving Licensing be raised they 
were flagged directly with the Service prior to the meeting 

 
 

Page 4



LICENSING BOARD - 08/12/22 

  Only 2 of the 4 multi-agency operations had taken place but there was 
confidence that the target would be reached in the final quarter of the 
financial year 

 
  100% target of licences issued was not realised due to one officer 

being on sick leave and another having IT problems leaving the 
remaining officer to sign all licences off.  However, 238 renewals were 
issued prior to the licences expiring with the exception of a few that 
were issued the day after expiry 

 
  The BTEC/NVQ qualification covered all the skills and knowledge you 

would expect a taxi drivers to have to carry out their role safely 
 

  Discussions were ongoing with the Design and Print Unit with regard 
to the redesign of taxi driver ID badges and the signage for vehicles 

 
  There had been a slight increase in the number of drivers which was 

surprising given the pandemic/cost of living increases/fuel prices.  
However, licences were issued on a 3 year cycle so the true picture 
may not be known until those licences were up for renewal 

 
  A significant number of drivers had changed the way they worked and 

had decided to work for Uber providing them with more flexibility 
 

  A number of taxi companies were using out of town vehicles because 
of the lack of taxi drivers 

 
House to House Collection Policy 
The Council’s House to House Collection Policy was introduced in 2019 
and now due for review (Appendix 4 of the report submitted).  2 
documents were also attached to the report that provided further 
information in relation to the consideration of House to House Collection 
applications.  Guidance provided by the National Association of Licensing 
Enforcement Officers was attached at Appendix 5 and guidance from the 
Institute of Fundraising on the use of percentages was attached at 
Appendix 6.   
 
Approval of the final Policy was a decision for the Cabinet but any views 
expressed by the Licensing Board together with all other consultation 
responses would be considered as part of the review. 
 
Discussion ensued on the Policy with the following points raised:- 
 
  Age limits – “No person under the age of sixteen years shall act or be 

authorised to act as a collector of money” – should it be eighteen 
years of age? 

  Disposal of disused certificates of authority etc – could it stipulate that 
they be returned to the Local Authority? 
 

Page 5



 LICENSING BOARD- 08/12/22
 

  Percentage given to the charitable organisation – should be 80% of 
the net figure and not gross 

  Organisations be requested to state what their financial projections 
from the collection would be to provide clarity on how much would go 
to the stated charity 

  Concerns with regard to the direct debit applications 
  That applications continue to be submitted to the Licensing Board 

Sub-Committee with the same amount of information currently 
provided 

 
Sex Establishment Policy 
The Council adopted the provisions of Schedule 3 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) on 22nd 
May, 2019, and introduced a Sex Establishment Policy that took effect on 
1st July, 2019. 
 
The Policy set out the Council’s approach to the regulation of the 
premises detailed under the provisions of the 1982 Act i.e. sexual 
entertainment venues, sex shops and sex cinemas and was attached to 
the report submitted at Appendix 7. 
 
Approval of the final Policy was a decision for the Cabinet but any views 
expressed by the Licensing Board together with all other consultation 
responses would be considered as part of the review. 
 
Discussion ensued on the Policy with the following points raised:- 
 
  Should avoid suggesting locations 
  The consultation should include workers within the industry 
  Was the advertising for the one sex shop within Rotherham 

appropriate 
 
Resolved:-  (1)  That the report be received and the contents noted. 
 
(2)  That an update be provided to Board Members at the end of the 
financial year on the number of multi-agency operations completed. 
 
(3)  That the specification of the BTEC/NVQ qualification be provided to 
Board Members for information. 
 
(4)  That the comments made with regard to the review of the House to 
House Collection Policy and the Sex Establishment Policy be fed into the 
consultation process. 
 

 

Page 6



Public Report 
 Licensing Board 

 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting  
Licensing Board - 07 November 2023 
 
Report Title 
Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?  
No, but it has been included on the Forward Plan 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Paul Woodcock, Strategic Director of Regeneration and Environment 
 
Report Author(s) 
Alan Pogorzelec, Licensing Manager 
01709 254955 or alan.pogorzelec@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
Ward(s) Affected 
Borough-Wide 
 
Report Summary 
 
In March 2020, the Council introduced a revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy.  This Policy built on the previous Policy (introduced in 2015) which 
was widely seen to be setting the standard for other local authorities to benchmark 
against in relation to Taxi and Private Hire Licensing.  
 
The 2020 Policy is now due for review and provides an opportunity to ensure that the 
Council’s approach to Taxi and Private Hire Licensing continues to reflect best 
practice, addresses local challenges and sets standards that will ensure that the 
standard of licensed driver, vehicle and operator in Rotherham remains high.  
 
This report outlines the key proposed changes to the current policy, and seeks the 
views of Members of the Licensing Board in relation to them.  
 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. That Licensing Board review the proposed changes and provide the Licensing 
Manager with comments in relation to them. 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



List of Appendices Included 
 
None. 
 
 
Background Papers 
Rotherham MBC Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2020 – 2023: 
hackney-carriage-and-private-hire-licensing-policy (rotherham.gov.uk) 
 
Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
None 
 
Council Approval Required 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
No 

Page 8

https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/file/1801/hackney-carriage-and-private-hire-licensing-policy


Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 

1. Background 
  
1.1 In July 2015, the Council published a Policy that set out the Council’s 

approach to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing.  This Policy was 
reviewed in 2020 and several additional requirements introduced. A large 
number of these were implemented at the time however, there have been 
delays in implementing both the additional stickers/signage, in relation to 
audio recording buttons, and the refresher training. Whilst the delays in 
implementation are as a result of various challenges, including the Covid 
pandemic, which led to large aspects of the Licensing training function being 
unable to operate fully, it is acknowledged that these activities should have 
been delivered sooner and as a result, actions have been put in place to 
prevent any recurrence. Both of these aspects are now in place operationally, 
with training dates established for the remainder of this year and stickers 
delivered to all operators and / or licence holders directly.  

  
1.2 The existing and new draft Policy sets what is generally accepted as being 

the highest standards with regard to taxi and private hire licensing in the UK, 
and many of the standards have subsequently been adopted by other local 
licensing authorities and included in national statutory guidance issued by the 
Department for Transport. 

  
1.3 The Council is striving to build on the foundation created by the Policy and 

maintain the position of the Council as being recognised as one of the leading 
authorities nationwide in relation to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing. 

  
1.4 The current Policy, and the statutory guidance, is clear that periodic review is 

essential towards ensuring success. The current three-year Policy was 
introduced in March 2020, so it is now necessary for the Policy to be subject 
to a formal review.  

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 To support the process of policy review, the Licensing team has undertaken 

an initial period of informal consultation with stakeholders and identified a 
number of key issues that could be resolved or mitigated through the revision 
of the current Policy and will be detailed further below.  

  
2.2 Out of town vehicles and increase in sub-contracting 
  
2.2.1 It has become apparent that since the pandemic, the way that drivers are 

working has changed.  It would appear that drivers are moving away from 
local firms and instead choosing to work for firms that have licences to 
operate in a number of different districts (Uber are perhaps the most 
commonly known of firms that operate in this way).   

  
 
 

Page 9



2.2.2 Working in this way allows drivers to take full advantage of the demands for 
taxi services in different areas at different times/days of the week.  For 
example, there may be a demand in Rotherham during daytime hours, but a 
higher demand for taxi services in Sheffield during the evening/night-time 
economy.   

  
2.2.3 As a result, local firms are reporting a decrease in the number of drivers that 

are available to them and are therefore looking at other options to enable 
them to fulfil bookings.  One option that appears to be gaining in popularity is 
the use of drivers and vehicles licensed by other Councils (which is permitted 
via the process of sub-contracting bookings to other operators). 

  
2.2.4 The proliferation of out-of-town vehicles is concerning, not least because this 

activity undermines the standards that are set by the Council’s Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy.  In addition, members of the local 
trade are not working within a “level playing field” and are finding that drivers 
licensed elsewhere are benefiting from an unfair commercial advantage due 
to lower operational costs. 

  
2.2.5 The Council recognises that Private Hire Operators have a critical role to play 

in relation to use of out-of-town vehicles and more widely in the delivery of 
safe and efficient private hire services. It is essential that Private Hire 
Operator licence holders are competent in the operation of their business and 
have appropriate safeguards in place to ensure that their business activities 
do not expose the public to unacceptable risks to their safety. 

  
2.2.6 With the above in mind, it is being proposed that the current requirements 

that are incumbent on Private Hire Operators are enhanced so that, like the 
drivers that work for them, Private Hire Operators meet the high expectations 
that the Council and the residents of Rotherham have of them. 

  
2.2.7 The following additional conditions are proposed to be included within the 

revised policy and therefore attached to Private Hire Operator Licences: 
 

  The Private Hire Operator must inform the customer at the time of 
acceptance of the booking that the booking they have made will be 
sub-contracted to another Private Hire Operator.  If this is not known 
at the time of booking then the customer must be informed as soon as 
practicable (and in any event, the customer must be informed before 
the vehicle is dispatched to undertake the booking).  

 
  Private Hire Operators must maintain records of each sub-contracted 

booking.  These records must include (as a minimum): 
 

• The time and date that the booking was sub-contracted 
to the third party operator. 

• The time and date that the customer was informed that 
their booking had been sub-contracted. 

• The name and Private Hire Operator number of the 
operator that the booking was sub-contracted to. 

• The details of the vehicle and driver that undertook the 
sub-contracted booking.   

Page 10



2.2.8 Inspections / compliance visits of Private Hire Operators will include a detailed 
assessment of any arrangements that are in place for the sub-contracting of 
bookings to other operators.  A zero-tolerance approach will be taken in 
relation to a failure to comply with the requirements of a Private Hire Operator 
licence - robust action being taken in the event of operator non-compliance 
with licence requirements.   

  
2.2.9 The above requirements will apply to existing licence holders in addition to 

those that apply for a new licence.  The requirements in relation to existing 
licence holders will be introduced by way of an implementation scheme that 
will be produced and published following consultation with stakeholders. The 
service has also considered options to introduce a requirement for Operators 
which would prevent the use of out-of-town vehicles, save for exceptional 
cases, however it has been acknowledged that this requires further detailed 
discussion to ensure any such amendment was legal and practicably 
applicable. The Council must also continue to work with partners and other 
Local Authorities to seek national change that either ensures consistently 
high standards or allows for local restrictions on out-of-town vehicles where 
they fall below the expectation set locally.   

  
2.3 Vehicle Age and Emissions 

 
Anecdotal evidence through ongoing engagement with the Taxi trade 
suggests that the current cost of living crisis is making it difficult for existing 
drivers to replace older vehicles that no longer meet the Council’s Vehicle 
Age Policy. 

  
2.3.1 Obtaining a licence in another Council area is attractive in these situations as 

the cost of an older vehicle is much lower than a newer one that would be 
required in Rotherham, and the installation of taxi cameras is also not 
required in many other Local Authority areas.  It has been suggested that a 
local driver can save between £2000 - £3000 on the cost of a vehicle by opting 
for a licence elsewhere (and in some cases may not need to replace the 
vehicle as the alternate licensing authority does not have an age limit policy 
as stringent as that in Rotherham). 

  
2.3.2 
 

In relation to vehicle age and emissions, the Council’s current Policy 
stipulates the following (Full details are contained within Appendix I of the 
current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy): 
 

• A vehicle which is not licensed at the point of application must be aged 
under 5 years old at the time that the application is made. 
 

• If an application is made to renew a vehicle licence (i.e. an application 
is made whilst there is a licence in place) then the vehicle must be 
aged under 10 years old on the date that the renewed licence would 
take effect. 

  
2.3.3 These requirements were introduced in 2015 with the objective of improving 

the standard of licensed vehicles and reducing the negative impacts on air 
quality resulting from the use of older vehicles. 

  

Page 11



2.3.4 Although the Policy requirements were largely successful in achieving the 
above objectives, the requirements may now be considered to be overly 
restrictive and to some extent linked to the increase in the number of out-of-
town vehicles operating in Rotherham. At the same time any revised policy 
still needs to support the Council’s ambition towards a net zero borough.   

  
2.3.5 As a result of the above, it is being proposed that the Council’s Vehicle Age 

and Emissions Policy is amended as follows: 
 

• A vehicle which is not licensed at the point of application must have 
been registered (or in the case of imported vehicles, manufactured) on 
or after the 1st September 2015. 
 

• If an application is made to renew a vehicle licence (i.e. an application 
is made whilst there is a licence in place) then the vehicle must be 
aged under 10 years old on the date that the renewed licence would 
take effect, except in the following circumstances: 
 

  Vehicles that meet the Council’s Enhanced Quality Standards 
(detailed below) must be aged under 12 years old on the date 
that the renewed licence would take effect. 
 

  Vehicles that meet the Council’s Enhanced Quality Standards 
and are capable of carrying a passenger seated in a wheelchair 
must be aged under 15 years old on the date that the renewed 
licence would take effect. 
 

  Ultra-Low Emission Vehicles (as defined at the time that the 
vehicle was first licensed) that also meet the Council’s 
enhanced quality standards must be aged under 15 years old 
on the date that the renewed licence would take effect. 

  
2.3.6 The Enhanced Quality Standards referred to above are: 

 
  The vehicle must pass the Council’s compliance test and be must 

free from minor issues at the time that the test is passed.  A minor 
issue is one that on its own would not result in a test failure at that 
time, but in the opinion of the tester will require remedy before the 
next test in order to avoid becoming a failure item (advisory notes 
provided at the time of an MOT inspection are an example of a 
minor issue).  
  

  The vehicle’s emissions must comply with, or exceed, the Euro 6 
emissions standard. 

 
  The vehicles bodywork must be in a condition that does not 

adversely affect the overall appearance of the vehicle. 
 

Page 12



The interior trim, panels, seating, carpets and upholstery are clean and free 
from any condition that would adversely affect the appearance of the vehicle 
interior. 

  
2.3.7 In conjunction with the above, the frequency that vehicles are required to 

undergo a compliance test at the Council’s testing station will be amended.  
The current requirements are: 
 

• Vehicle aged under 3 years old – one test per year 
• Vehicle aged between 3 and 5 years old – two tests per year 
• Vehicle aged over 5 years old – three tests per year 

  
2.3.8 In order to incentivise the purchase of newer vehicles, whilst ensuring that 

older vehicles remain suitable for use as licensed vehicles, it is being 
proposed that the test frequencies are amended as follows: 
 

• Vehicles aged under 5 years old – one test per year 
• Vehicles aged between 5 and 7 years old – two tests per year 
• Vehicles aged over 7 years old – three tests per year 

  
2.4 Convictions Policy lacks clarity in relation to certain offences 
  
2.4.1 The current Convictions Policy provides guidance to decision makers, drivers 

and applicants in relation to the way that a conviction would affect a person’s 
suitability to hold a licence.   

  
2.4.2 Although the Policy covers most common conviction types, there are a 

number that do not fit into the categories that are detailed in the Policy (for 
example some motoring offences, immigration related offences, offences 
related to business practices (sale of illicit tobacco) etc.).   

  
2.4.3 The Policy review therefore includes a revision of the Convictions Policy to 

provide clearer guidance in relation to these offences, and to ensure that the 
standards that are set continue to be in accordance with good practice and 
at a level that will ensure that users of taxi and private hire services are 
protected. 

  
2.4.4 The specific changes are as follows: 

 
• Greater clarity will be provided through the introduction of additional 

categories of convictions.  New categories will include immigration 
offences, certain motoring offences, offences connected to the 
operation of businesses, cultivation of illegal drugs, offences involving 
discrimination, offences related to public safety and breaches of 
environmental protection legislation. 
 

• The minimum time periods that must elapse before a person is 
considered to be suitable for licensing will be reviewed and compared 
with other standards throughout the country (including the national 
statutory guidance), with periods increasing where required.  The time 
periods detailed in the current policy will not decrease and will match 
or exceed those of all other neighbouring authorities. 

Page 13



  
2.4.5 In addition to the above, it is proposed that the revised policy includes a 

requirement for all vehicle proprietors to undergo a basic level DBS check as 
part of the application process (unless the applicant is an existing Rotherham 
MBC licensed driver). 

  
2.5 Low number of vehicles that are capable of carrying a passenger that is 

seated in a wheelchair. 
  
2.5.1 The number of vehicles that can carry a person seated in a wheelchair has 

decreased over the years – primarily due to the cost of these vehicles.  
  
2.5.2 The fact that most wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAVs) are hackney 

carriages exacerbates this issue due to the current limit on the numbers of 
hackney carriages that are licensed in Rotherham (currently limited to 52).  
This situation makes it difficult for wheelchair users to access taxi services in 
the way that others are.  The Policy review looks to address this, and a list of 
accessible vehicles is currently being prepared for publication, in line with 
statutory requirements. 

  
2.5.3 The number of Hackney Carriage licences that can be in effect at any one 

time is currently limited to 52.  This limit was introduced by the Council’s 
Licensing Board in July 2005 following a survey of unmet demand for taxi 
services in Rotherham.   

  
2.5.4 Government guidance clearly states that Councils should not impose a limit 

and should instead allow market / commercial forces to dictate the number of 
Hackney Carriages that are able to operate within its area.  It is therefore 
proposed that the current limit of 52 Hackney Carriages in Rotherham is 
removed, but with a requirement for any new Hackney Carriages to be 
capable of carrying a passenger seated in a wheelchair.  

  
2.5.5 The effect of this is expected to be a greater number of available Hackney 

Carriages (that would have the option of working for local firms during periods 
of high demand) and an increase in the number of vehicles that are able to 
accommodate a passenger seated in a wheelchair. 

  
2.6 Clarification regarding application requirements 
  
2.6.1 The current Policy does not outline the application and decision-making 

process for individuals that have had licences revoked due to being the 
subject of criminal investigations but have been released from enquiries. 

  
2.6.2 This leads to uncertainty on the part of applicants and officers in relation to 

the processes that should be followed should a former suspect in a criminal 
investigation be released from enquiries and subsequently apply for 
relicensing. 

  
2.6.3 Current practice regarding the referral of applications to the Council’s 

Licensing Board is considered to be inefficient.  For example, an application 
from an individual convicted of a relatively minor offence some years ago 
would be referred to the Licensing Board even though the Council’s 

Page 14



Convictions Policy would indicate that the individual would be considered 
suitable for licensing.  This introduces unnecessary delay, as the hearing are 
only held at certain frequencies, and uses valuable time of the Committee 
that may be better spent dealing with other, more high risk, matters.  
However, our normal practice will be for serious matters to be referred to the 
Licensing Board for consideration, regardless of the time period that has 
elapsed.   

  
2.6.4 It is proposed that the revised policy will include the following: 

 
• An outline of the processes that will apply to the handling of 

applications for driver, vehicle and operator licences.  This will provide 
clarity in relation to: 
 

  the documentation that must be provided when making an 
application,  

  the order that the various elements must be completed,   
  any timescales that apply to the completion of the application, 
  any specific requirements that apply to each of the individual 

application elements (for example, the details of acceptable 
providers for the practical driving test). 

  
2.6.5 In addition, details in relation to the application process for former licence 

holders previously subject to investigation will be included to make it clear 
that there will be no exemptions from the completion of all of the application 
requirements. The Council will utilise information sharing pathways to obtain 
information regarding the criminal investigation and will use this information 
as part of the assessment of the applicant’s suitability to hold a licence. 

  
2.6.6 It is also proposed that the revised policy should provide greater clarity in 

relation to the Council’s decision-making processes and scheme of 
delegation.   

  
2.6.7 It will be made clear that most licensing decisions will be made by licensing 

officers with referrals to the Council’s Licensing Board generally being limited 
to: 
 

• those cases where there is a clear breach of the Council’s Policy, and 
 

• licensing officers are of the opinion that it may be appropriate for an 
application to be refused, or for an existing licence to be revoked (with 
the exception of cases where it is in the interests of public safety for a 
revocation to take effect immediately).   

  
 

2.7 Lack of clarity in relation to vehicle testing standards and display of signage 
  
2.7.1 Observations have shown that the way in which taxi signage is displayed on 

vehicles lacks consistency.  
  
2.7.2 Door signage should be displayed on the front doors, but has been seen on 

the rear doors, wings and rear body panels.   

Page 15



  
2.7.3 In addition, licence plates are mounted in the rear window, attached with 

magnets and / or suitable homemade brackets / fixings.  
  
2.7.4 Although the requirements are detailed in the current Policy, they would 

appear to be misunderstood by some drivers and therefore further specific 
clarity needs to be provided. 

  
2.7.5 It is proposed therefore that the revised policy includes clear guidance on the 

placement of vehicle signage (including door signs).  It will also introduce a 
requirement that all required signage must be permanently fixed to the vehicle 
by default.  However, the Council will allow deviations from this requirement 
in cases where if the method of fixing allows the signage to be placed in 
accordance with the policy requirements and there is no history of formal 
action being taken against the licence holder as a result of non-compliance 
with signage requirements (during the period of the licence).   

  
2.7.6 In addition to the above, a new requirement will be introduced for the display 

of a vehicle licence plate on the front bumper / grille. 
  
2.8 
 
2.8.1 

General amendments to wording and format of policy to improve readability 
 
The general wording of the policy and associated appendices will be reviewed 
and if appropriate amended in order to improve clarity and readability. 

  
3. Options considered and recommended proposal 
  
3.1 The current policy covers the period 2020 - 2023, meaning that the policy is 

now due to enter a formal review process. A number of options were 
considered during the review process: 

  
3.2 Option 1: The Council could have decided not make any changes and 

consult on the current policy. This would have given a policy to consult upon 
but would not have reflected Council’s intention to introduce additional / 
revised measures and would not therefore have given respondents the 
opportunity to comment on those proposals. 

  
3.3 Option 2: The Council could have published a paper which outlined the 

issues refer to earlier in this report and asked for comments on the 
appropriate way to implement this into the revised policy. Whilst this would 
have allowed for an open consultation where consultees were able to give 
further detail to inform the revised policy, it would not have given adequate 
information about the additional / revised measures that the Council was 
considering. 

  
3.4 Option 3: The Council could have decided to commence a period of 

consultation highlighting any proposed changes and asking consultees to 
comment on those.  The Council could also invite comments from consultees 
on the policy in general.  This approach would have allowed consultees to 
understand the position of the Council, and would have allowed respondents 
to make informed comments on the proposals and the policy in general.  

  

Page 16



3.5 The preferred option was Option 3, and this was the option that was agreed 
by Cabinet in June 2023. It was considered that this option would give 
consultees the opportunity to comment on the key changes that are being 
proposed, as well as giving the option to comment on the policy in general. 

  
4. Consultation on proposal 
  
4.1 Cabinet accepted the proposed amendments, and outline of the review 

process, at the meeting in June 2023, there then followed a formal 
consultation process.  

  
4.2 Consultation has taken place with members of the public, and those affected 

by the policy.  This consultation has taken the form of: 
 

  Direct contact with representatives of businesses / organisations that 
are directly affected by the policy. 

  Online consultation via the Council’s website. 
  Direct mail contact with local residents (a mailshot to over 1000 

randomised residential addresses within the Rotherham Borough). 
  Public drop in sessions throughout the Borough. 
  Consultation at Rotherham Show. 
  Contact with groups / organisations representing specific sectors of 

our communities. 
  Consultation with local ward Members. 
  Publicity via local newsletters and mailings 
  Press releases / social media publicity raising awareness of the policy 

review. 
  
4.3 The online consultation period concluded on 21st October 2023 and there 

have been in excess of 600 responses to the consultation.   
  
4.4 At the time of drafting this report, the responses were still being reviewed/ 

analysed by the Licensing team – however a verbal update will be provided 
during the meeting that will outline key themes / findings identified during the 
consultation. 

  
4.5 Members of the Licensing Board are invited to provide the Licensing Manager 

with comments in relation to the policy proposals during the meeting today.  
These comments will be considered along with other consultation responses 
during the development of the final draft policy document.  

  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
  
5.1 The final draft policy document will be presented to Cabinet at its meeting in 

December 2023.   
  
5.2 If approved, the policy will come into effect as soon as possible after the 

Cabinet meeting. 
  
  

Page 17



5.3 It will however be necessary for some of the revised policy requirements to 
come into effect over a period of time.  Further detail on this will be detailed 
in an implementation scheme which will be submitted to Cabinet in December 
alongside the final draft of the policy. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications 
  
6.1 There are no specific financial or procurement implications directly associated 

with this report.  
  
6.2 Activity related to the development and implementation of the revised policy 

will be undertaken and contained within existing budgets. 
  
7. Legal Advice and Implications 
  
7.1 The Council is responsible for the regulation of Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire licensing in the Borough.  There is no legal requirement to have a policy 
in place; however such a policy is necessary to ensure proper regulation of 
the trade and ensure that high standards are maintained.  In order for such a 
policy to be fit for purpose, it needs to be regularly reviewed and amended to 
reflect change, so that regulation of the trade is consistent and remains 
effective. Regulation is essential to ensure effective safeguarding in the 
borough 

  
7.2 Failure of the Council to properly regulate Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

licensing in the Borough and the failure to maintain a policy that is fit for 
purpose leaves the Council and any decisions made in relation to licensing 
open to legal challenge. Any such challenge carries both financial and 
reputational risk for the Council. 

  
7.3 The Council must be able to demonstrate effectiveness of the policy and 

provide confidence and reassurance regarding its implementation. 
  
7.4 Option 3 (which was the option approved by Cabinet) ensured that the 

Council consulted in a transparent manner and as extensively as possible in 
order for policy development to take place where required. This minimised 
the risk of any legal challenge in respect of the policy itself and any decisions 
made surrounding the process. A decision not to formally review the policy or 
to narrow down the consultation could have left the Council open to potential 
challenge by way of judicial review.  

  
7.5 The 12 week period of consultation was considered to be sufficient and in line 

with Government guidance.  
  
8. Human Resources Advice and Implications 
  
8.1 There are no direct HR implications arising from this report. 
  
  

Page 18



9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
  
9.1 Both the Jay report into Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Rotherham and 

the subsequent Corporate Governance Inspection led by Louise Casey CB 
identified issues, amongst which was the importance of having an effective 
taxi licensing service.   

  
9.2 At the heart of the policy lies a commitment to the protection of the public, 

safeguarding children and the vulnerable and the prevention of crime and 
disorder. The effective implementation of the licensing policy and the 
standards that it contains plays an important part in the protection of children 
and vulnerable people in Rotherham. 

  
9.3 Since the publication of the report, the licensing team have been working with 

colleagues in Children’s Services to ensure that those involved in the care 
and support of looked after children are aware of the key contacts within 
licensing, the nature of information that can be passed on to the licensing 
team and the action that the team can take as a result.  This has been 
achieved by identifying single points of contact within the Licensing Service 
and Children’s Services and an agreed protocol for the sharing of information 
between services (making use of the formal, documented Local Authority 
Designated Officer procedures within Children’s Services). 

  
9.4 In addition, action has been taken to repair and formalise the information 

sharing processes within the Council and between its partners.  This includes 
the regular attendance of a senior manager from the Licensing service at the 
weekly Child Exploitation Tasking Group meetings that are chaired by South 
Yorkshire Police.  Information that is discussed at the weekly meetings 
includes detail on offenders, victims and locations of concern.  These 
meetings also provide a forum where a multiagency approach to a problem 
can be discussed; if needs be with formation of a separate task and finish 
group consisting of the various Council services and partner agencies. 

  
9.5 The Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy makes it 

clear that non-conviction information can be taken into consideration when 
making decisions regarding licensing matters (there had previously been a 
criticism that officers acted only when a licence holder had actually been 
convicted of an offence).  The policy confirms that the safety of the travelling 
public must be the paramount concern. 

  
10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications 
  
10.1 In undertaking its licensing function, the Council comply with relevant 

legislative requirements including the Human Rights Act 1998. 
  
10.2 The policy (along with the Council’s General Enforcement Policy) will ensure 

the consistent and fair determination of licences; recognising that every 
individual is entitled to dignity and respect. 

  
  

Page 19



10.3 When making licensing decisions the Council and its officers aim to ensure 
there is no discrimination on the grounds of culture, ethnic or national origins, 
gender, disability, age, sexual orientation, political or religious beliefs, socio-
economic status, or previous criminal conviction or caution which is not 
relevant to the current issue. 

  
10.4 Adherence to these requirements are assured by means of officer 

awareness, observation, case reviews and both customer satisfaction and 
complaints received into the service.  In addition, those affected by licensing 
decisions have the legal right to challenge that decision in the Magistrates 
Court. 

  
10.5 An Equalities Screening Assessment has been completed has been 

completed as part of the review process, a full Equality Analysis will be 
completed for submission to Cabinet if required.  

  
11. Implications for CO2 Emissions and Climate Change 
  
11.1 There are no direct CO2 emissions or climate change implications introduced 

by this report as the Policy presented is in draft. A further report with the final 
version of the Policy will be subject to further detailed analysis. 

  
12. Implications for Partners 
  
12.1. It is recognised that enforcement and compliance activity often cannot be 

carried out in isolation by the Council.  Its key partnerships with other 
agencies e.g. South Yorkshire Police, HM Revenue and Customs and the 
Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency are critical to ensure a comprehensive 
approach to regulation. 

  
13. Risks and Mitigation 
  
13.1 The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy must give 

confidence to licence holders and the public of the effective performance 
management of Council processes and the transparency and fairness of the 
Council’s approach to enforcement. 

  
13.2 Responsibility for ensuring compliance with the policy rests with licensing 

team and service management, with appropriate overview and scrutiny by the 
Cabinet Member for Waste, Roads and Community Safety and members of 
the Licensing Board. 

  
13.3 Failure of the Council to effectively discharge its licensing enforcement 

functions may compromise public safety. 
  
  

Page 20



13.4 Compliance with the General Enforcement Policy gives confidence to 
business and individuals of the transparency and fairness of the Council’s 
approach to enforcement, without which the Council’s reputation might be at 
risk. 

  
14. Accountable Officers 
 Alan Pogorzelec, Licensing Manager 
  
 
Report Author:  Alan Pogorzelec, Licensing Manager 

01709 254955 or alan.pogorzelec@rotherham.gov.uk 
This report is published on the Council's website. 

Page 21

https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8th December, 2022
	6 Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy



